California State University, San Bernardino

CSUSB ScholarWorks

Theses Digitization Project

John M. Pfau Library

1997

Multimedia technology as a presentation and archival tool for teaching history/social science

Patricia Weigel Amicone

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd-project



Part of the Instructional Media Design Commons

Recommended Citation

Amicone, Patricia Weigel, "Multimedia technology as a presentation and archival tool for teaching history/ social science" (1997). Theses Digitization Project. 1300.

https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd-project/1300

This Project is brought to you for free and open access by the John M. Pfau Library at CSUSB ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses Digitization Project by an authorized administrator of CSUSB ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@csusb.edu.

MULTIMEDIA TECHNOLOGY AS A PRESENTATION AND ARCHIVAL TOOL FOR TEACHING HISTORY/SOCIAL SCIENCE

A Project

Presented to the

Faculty of

California State University,

San Bernardino

In Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree
Master of Arts

in

Education: Educational Technology

by
Patricia Weigel Amicone
September 1997

MULTIMEDIA TECHNOLOGY AS A PRESENTATION AND ARCHIVAL TOOL FOR TEACHING HISTORY/SOCIAL SCIENCE

A Project

Presented to the

Faculty of

California State University,

San Bernardino

by

Patricia Weigel Amicone September 1997

Approved by:

Dr./Lynne Diaz-Rico, First Reader

8/15/97 Date

Dr. Sylvester Robertson, Second Reader

Copyright 1997 Patricia Weigel Amicone.

ABSTRACT

Students today come to school with different learning styles than those of the past. They are an audiovisual generation who seem to prefer material that is presented in any of the media modalities, that is oral, televisual and enactive (the ability to perform) communication. These students do not necessarily come to school with extensive experience with the written word. Educators need to take this into account and address learning styles in a way that will help students to use their existing skills, as well as help them to incorporate print material into their repertoire.

The most logical curricular area for beginning implementation of multimedia technology is History/Social Science. The Goals and Curriculum Strands of the California History/Social Science Framework fall into three broad categories: (1) Knowledge and Cultural Understanding; (2) Democratic Understanding and Civic Values; and, (3) Skills Attainment and Social Participation. These encompass the development of the basic study skills, critical thinking skills and participation skills essential for effective citizenship. The Skills Attainment and Social Participation Goal specifically calls for students to use multimedia technology to create, select, retrieve, and analyze information; the large amount of materials available in multimedia format is conducive to implementation of this goal.

In order to encourage the use of higher-level thinking skills and the transfer of information from one content area to another, teachers need to address all of the students' learning styles. The use of multimedia materials and programs in the classroom will insure that students are given this option.

This project consists of a demonstration of the use of multimedia both as a presentation and an archival tool. A secondary goal is to present a teacher education model for the principled creation of student multimedia products.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
The Purpose of This Project	5
The Content of This Project	6
The Significance of This Project	6
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	8
Multiple Intelligences	8
Learning Styles	10
Critical Thinking	13
Instructional Design	14
Technology Integration	17
History/Social Science Curriculum Frameworks	25
The Role of Teacher Preparation Programs	27
Literature on the Serrano People and Culture	28
CHAPTER THREE: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	30
Instructional Goals and Objectives	30
Multimedia as a Presentation Tool	31
Project Based Learning	31
Critical Thinking and Problem Solving	32
Variety in Presentation	33
Multimedia as an Archival Tool	35
Variety	35
Documentation	36
Principles of Multimedia Use in Teacher Education	38

CHAPTER FOUR: DESIGN OF THE PROJECT4
Subject Matter4
The Learners4
Instructional Development4
Screen Design4
CHAPTER FIVE: EVALUATION4
Anticipated Student Outcomes4
APPENDIX A
Multimedia Project Rubric Scale5
APPENDIX B
History Day in California Scoresheet5
APPENDIX C
Storyboard5
APPENDIX D
The History of Yohaviatum: The People of the Pines
CD5
BTBLTOGRAPHY

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Multimedia	Design	Model	for	Presentation40
Table 2.	Multimedia	Design	Model	For	Archiving42

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

A keynote address to the International Conference on Educational Technology in Barcelona, Spain, states the following: "The integration of the new technological environments on education is, first and foremost, the assertion of a right defined by the International Convention on Children's Rights and recognized by the United Nations in 1989: the right of the young to information, culture and knowledge" (Tarrago, 1994). This statement gives credence to rights of children as well as serving as mandate to educators to provide today's students with the ability to make use of technology in the Information Age.

Students today are expected to function in a technologyoriented environment when they leave school. Unfortunately,
too often schools and teachers are still functioning as if
they were providing an education to children from the
Industrial Age. The Chief Executive Officer of the
international credit bureau TRW, Joseph Gorman, states that
two types of transformational changes are affecting the U.S.
economy: global integration and rapid technological advances.
Not since the 1890s has such a significant change taken
place. Today's students, the workers preparing for the 21st
century, must be skilled in the thinking and problem solving
skills that are required if one is to design new products or
find new ways of providing information services. They need to
be flexible enough to adapt from one career and employer to
another if they are to take advantage of these changes.

With global integration and technological change, workers today compete with workers around the world for high-skilled jobs that require the ability to produce information and ideas. If today's young people are to be able to compete in the global market place they will need to be strong in the SCANS 2000 (Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills) skills identified by the U.S. Department of Labor. These skills are divided into eight areas.

The first of the SCANS skill areas is termed <u>basic</u> <u>skills</u>, comprised of reading, writing, mathematics, listening, and speaking.

The second category, <u>thinking skills</u>, includes creative thinking, decision making, problem solving, knowing how to learn, and reasoning.

The third area consists of the <u>personal skills</u> of responsibility, self esteem, sociability, self-management, and integrity.

The fourth group contains <u>resource skills</u>: planning, organizing, monitoring, assessing, evaluating, and adjusting.

The fifth group of skills encompasses the <u>interpersonal</u> <u>skills</u> of teamwork, teaching, leadership, negotiating, serving client/customers, and working with people of diverse cultural backgrounds.

Sixth are the <u>systems skills</u> which give one the ability to understand social organizational and technological systems, as well as be able to monitor and correct these systems.

The seventh set incorporates the information skills of

acquiring and evaluating, organizing and maintaining, interpreting and communicating, using computers to process information.

The eighth and final group are the <u>technology skills</u> that include the ability to select equipment and tools, apply technology to specific tasks, maintain and troubleshoot technologies, as well as learn new technologies (The Wall Street Journal Classroom Edition, 1996, p. 5).

Many classroom teachers today are uncomfortable using technology in their classrooms (Hancock & Betts 1994, p. 29). In his book The Gutenberg Elegies (1994), Birkerts states, "Next to the new technologies, the scheme of things represented by print and the snail-paced linearity of the reading act looks stodgy and dull. Many educators say our students are less and less able to read, or analyze, or write with clarity and purpose. Who can blame the students? Everything they meet with-in the world around them gives the signal: that was then and electronic communications are now" (p. 119). It is the responsibility of educators to help the students integrate the "then" and "now." Students today learn differently than the students of the Industrial Age, for they have have grown up with television, computers, multimedia, Nintendo games, and a plethora of other electronic devices that have shaped their learning styles. Whereas earlier generations sought information from books and encyclopedias, students today go to the CD ROM and the Internet. Students today typically come into schools with nascent skills in several areas: enactive (the ability to perform), televisual

(the ability to interpret the audiovisual language of television), and oral communication (the ability to communicate in memorable ways, i.e. the use of rhythmic form). Some students begin school with rudimentary skills in reading, although not in writing. The transition from oral to written communication and from handwriting to print is difficult for these students. Marshall McLuhan (1964) predicted that television was replacing typography as the fundamental means of communication. If this assertion was correct, should we not expect that these differences in how we communicate would be accompanied by differences in how we reason? Patterns of reasoning are as much a part of communication as are people, grammar, and vocabulary (ibid., p. 17). Teachers need to take into consideration how much reasoning in the verbal context of the classroom transfers to other contexts.

How much logic and informal logic is rooted in structures of written language which do not correlate directly with those of oral or audiovisual language? If, as Langsdorf (1992, p. 21) contends, a great deal of what is currently practiced and taught under the rubric of critical thinking is rooted in a print culture unfamiliar to the students, then the vital issue of providing alternative modes that support reasoning must be addressed. Teachers today need to acknowledge this paradigm shift and try to change their teaching styles to accommodate today's learners. The integration of multimedia technology into the core curriculum is a way of engaging learners in the medium with which they

are most familiar, thus preparing them to be competitive in the global workplace of the 21st century.

The Purpose of This Project

The influx of audiovisual materials into the classroom curriculum, and its natural progression to the use of multimedia materials, has helped to alleviate the problem of how to teach the Nintendo generation. Students need to be able to incorporate their enactive, televisual and oral communications skills with their more recently acquired written language skills, much as students do when they learn a foreign language. They will then be able to develop their critical thinking skills, which will help them to transfer reasoning abilities from one classroom to another and into everyday life.

The social history of technology shows that technological development is a scientific, social and cultural process at one and the same time, in such a way that society embodies technology, rather than technology being an external element acting upon society (Bijker, Hughes, & Pinch, 1990). One must remember that pupils are not taught by the education system, nor the school, but rather by the professional educator who is in direct contact with them. It is then this professional's attitude toward the infusion of technology as a tool that will permeate the classroom.

This project was created to provide teachers with a model multimedia project that demonstrates the use of multimedia as both a presentation tool and an archival instrument. It provides teachers with a simple guide to help

them teach students how to use multimedia as a productivity tool in the classroom. This outline gives a step by step format that guides teachers and students through the development and presentation process. In addition, an evaluation rubric is provided that offers teachers a concise means to monitor student learning.

The Content of This Project

The subject of this project is the history and culture of the Serrano Indians. The information is provided in the context of the five themes of cultural geography. The project contains information and artifacts that were imported to the computer from photographs, videotape, audio tape, CD ROM and floppy disk. The information was obtained by using scanners, video camera, Video Flex digital camera, CD ROM player, audio tape player, internal and external microphone.

This project contains actual videotaped footage of Serrano Indian village sites, baskets, tools, ceremonial instruments, attire, ethnobotanical samples, and foods; as well as, songs, music, and stories. A CD ROM has been created to provide a way to archive information that may not be available in the future, and provide easy access to students and tribal members as they study the culture.

The Significance of This Project

The information and research provided by this project is an example of how multimedia can be used to preserve artifacts and other cultural items. This project was used to preserve some of the language, songs and stories of the local Serrano Indian culture. The San Manuel Band of Mission

Indians are taking steps to preserve their culture and to teach their children about their history. They are attempting to rekindle the use of their native language through the use of multimedia programs. Dr. Lynne Diaz-Rico has been instrumental in helping the Serrano people to reclaim their heritage. Her two books on Serrano history/culture; Seeking Santos: The History of the Serranos and Stories of the Serranos have given impetus to a resurgence of interest in the local Indian culture. This project was created as an addendum to the work that she started. It is hoped that the multimedia CD ROM program will be installed in local schools and tribal cultural centers as a means to access this historical and cultural information.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

To understand how better to meet the learning needs of today's students, one must explore the topics of multiple intelligences, learning theory, critical thinking, instructional design, and technology integration. Moreover one must examine closely the California History/Social Science Framework to ascertain how technology can support learning in this area. Finally the issue of teacher education will be addressed. Many classroom teachers today are uncomfortable using technology in their classroom (Hancock & Betts, 1994, p. 29). Inasmuch as today's students will be expected to function in a technology oriented environment when they leave school (Peterson & Orde, 1995, p. 75), it is vital that steps be taken to improve this situation.

Multiple Intelligences

Educators have been espousing accommodation for the seven modular intelligences (bodily/kinesthetic; intrapersonal; logical/ mathematical; linguistic; interpersonal; musical; and spatial) identified by Howard Gardner (1983a, 1983b).

Bodily/kinesthetic learners are students who communicate information by demonstration. They have the ability to control body movements and to handle objects skillfully.

Intrapersonal learners are students who have developed a realistic sense of their own strengths and weaknesses, desires and intelligence.

Logical/Mathematical learners have sensitivity to, and

the capacity to discern, logical or numerical patterns; the ability to handle long chains of reasoning.

Linguistic learners are those who like to read and write and play with words. They are sensitive to sounds, rhythms, and meanings of words; as well as, possessing a sensitivity to the different functions of language.

Interpersonal learners don't like to work alone; they enjoy socialization. They have the capacity to discern and respond appropriately to the moods, temperaments, motivations, and desires of other people. They are the social director of a group and seem to be the natural leaders.

Musical learners possess the abilities to produce and appreciate rhythm, pitch, and timbre, and other forms of musical expressiveness. They like to hum, whistle or sing all of the time. They drum their fingers to rhythms and learn best when things are put to song.

Spatial learners possess the capacities to perceive the visual-spatial world accurately and to perform transformations on one's own initial perceptions. They learn best from videos, pictures, and demonstrations using models and props (Gardner, & Hatch, 1989, p. 6).

It is important for educators to remember that students have preferred ways of processing and organizing information and for responding to environmental stimuli. "Broadly construed, a person's learning style is intelligences put to work" (Armstrong, 1994).

Campbell (1994, p. 166) talks about the results that he has seen in his classroom since implementing the multiple

intelligences approach to teaching. He identifies two reasons for the success: "First, every student has has an opportunity to specialize and excel in at least one area of human intelligence. Second, each student is learning material in multiple ways and has a variety of opportunities to understand and retain academic information. Moreover, because of the input students have into the program, their learning experiences are more meaningful."

Learning Styles

In order to ensure students' use of higher level thinking skills and the transfer of information from one content area to another, teachers need to make sure they are teaching to all of the students' learning styles (Healy, 1990, p. 308); auditory, visual, tactile and multisensory. An auditory learner is a student who learns best through verbal presentation of information. The visual learner is one who must see the information, either depicted in film, demonstrated by the teacher, represented in graphic depiction or read via the printed word. The tactile learner, however, is one who must touch and feel or manipulate the material/equipment themselves.

Woolfolk (1995) divides these cognitive or learning styles into five basic categories: Field Dependence, patterns perceived as wholes; Field Independence, separate parts of a pattern are perceived and analyzed; Impulsive, a pattern of responding quickly but often inaccurately; Reflective, responding slowly carefully and accurately; and finally Self-Instruction, talking oneself through the steps of a task

(p. 126-127).

McCarthy (1980) divides learning styles into four major areas: imaginative learners who perceive information concretely and process it reflectively; analytic learners perceive information abstractly and process it reflectively; common sense learners who perceive information abstractly and process it actively; and dynamic learners who perceive information concretely and process it actively. Of the four groups identified she found that only the analytic learners who thrived in traditional classrooms and find school well suited to their needs. The imaginative learners find school too fragmented and disconnected from the personal issues that they find most interesting and struggle to connect the educational content to their need to grow and understand the world. The common sense learners are pragmatists and want to apply what they are learning to the real world. They are frustrated by their inability to put what they are learning to immediate use in their own lives. Since the dynamic learners integrate experience and application, they find school tedious and overly sequential. They too are frustrated with the structure of our educational system.

All students have individual preferences for particular learning environments, as well as ways that they best assimilate information. Renate Caine's research on teaching and the human brain reinforces the idea that no single teaching style meets the needs of all students. Her conclusion is that "Teaching should be multifaceted to allow all students to express visual, tactile, emotional and

auditory preferences" (Caine & Caine, 1994, p. 16). Meeting these needs provides a true challenge to the classroom teacher.

Nickerson (1987) states that the teaching of higher level thinking skills is necessary if students are to: compete effectively for educational opportunities, jobs, and recognition and rewards in todays world; develop good citizenship skills; and become rational thinkers. Learning to work with multimedia equipment and learning multimedia software programs requires students to employ the use of these skills. Students need to know and understand the five components of thinking that Bradford and Stein (in Baron 1987.) identify as being applicable to a wide variety of situations. "These include the ability to identify problems; define and represent them with precision, explore possible strategies, act on these strategies, and look at the effects" (p. 163).

Learning to work with multimedia equipment and learning multimedia software programs requires students to employ the use of these skills.

The use of multimedia materials and programs in the classroom will insure that students are given a variety of options (Malhotra & Erickson, 1994). Multimedia materials and authoring programs incorporate the learning preferences of reading, writing, speaking, visualizing and manipulating that give the students choices in both the way they learn and how they present what they have learned.

Critical Thinking

Critical thinking is defined as "Evaluating conclusions by logically and systematically examining the problem, the evidence and the solution" (Woolfolk, 1995, p. 312). This is a skill that is frequently taught as a part of the history/social science curriculum in an effort to teach students to take an objective look at the past and apply lessons learned to everyday life. Students need to understand that the information that they are given, regardless of the source, is tainted by the point of view of the source of the information. They need to attempt to consider what other points of view might be, and realize that all points of view need to be critically analyzed and assessed. "Though everyone is both egocentric and critical (fair minded) to some extent, the purpose of education in critical thinking is to help students move away from egocentricity, toward increasingly critical thought" (Paul, Binker, Martin, Vetrano, Kreklau, 1989, p. 179).

The 1988 History/Social Science Framework for California Public Schools Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, states the following:

This framework proposes that critical thinking skills be included at every grade level. Students should learn to detect bias in print and visual media; to recognize illogical thinking; to guard against propaganda; to avoid stereotyping of group members; to reach conclusions

based on solid evidence; and to think critically, creatively and rationally. These skills are to be taught within the context of a curriculum that offers numerous opportunities to explore examples of sound reasoning and examples of the opposite.(p. 7, Item 14)

Critical thinking is disciplined, self-directed thinking which exemplifies the perfection of thinking appropriate to a particular mode or domain of thinking" (Paul, Binker, Martin, Vetrano, & Krekiau, 1989, p. 179). Critical thinking comes in two forms: one which relates to the interests of a specific person or group; second, one which relates to the interests of diverse persons or groups. Much of what one sees in an historical context is from a one sided point of view. Critical thinking develops the mental traits that help students to identify bias. The transference of these skills to everyday life situations is reinforced by the students' repeated application of these skills to their school work. The ability to define and clarify the problem, judge/evaluate the information related to the problem, and finally solve the problem or draw conclusions is a lifelong skill.

Instructional Design

Webster's New World Dictionary of the America Language: Second College Edition (1996) defines design "as a thing planned for or outcome aimed at, a working out by plan. Design is an instrument of organization, a medium for persuasion, a means of relating objects to people, and a method for improving efficiency" (p. 382). One of the most important factors involved in the success of a multimedia program is its screen design. A good program design is not a cosmetic addition, but rather an urgent requirement, because effective design can save time and money by presenting information more clearly. It enhances communication. It helps more people to understand a given message and helps accelerate learning (Chermayeff, Wurman, Caplan, & Bradford, 1994). It is vital for the teachers to understand and share with their students the importance of good screen design. People working with multimedia authoring programs need to always remember the ten fundamental Human Interface Design Principals as stated in Human Interface Guidelines: The Apple Desktop Interface (1989):

- 1. Use of metaphors: people have more experience with the real world than they do with computers. Take advantage of their experience, by using metaphors in your stacks that correspond to the everyday world.
- 2. Direct manipulation: users want to feel that they are in charge of the computer's activities. Tell users their options by providing visible choices and ways to make their choices; and give feedback, auditory or textual, acknowledging their choices.
- 3. See and point (instead of remember and type): users select actions from alternatives presented on the screen. Users rely on recognition, not recall; they shouldn't have

- to remember anything the computer already knows. Remember that the average user is not a programmer.
- 4. Consistency within a stack is essential.

 Effective applications are both consistent within themselves and consistent with one another. The stack should have a consistent design for the following elements:
 - · graphic look
 - grouping of buttons
 - placement of buttons
 - · visual and audio feedback
 - · card layout
 - · backgrounds for cards with similar functions
 - · stack structure
 - Consistency in these elements makes it easier for the user to focus on the stack.
- 5. What you See is What You Get: there should be no abstract commands; all items should do what they say. What one sees on the screen should be the same as what is printed.
- 6. User control: the user, <u>not</u> the computer, initiates and controls all actions
- 7. Feedback and dialog: in order for the user to be in charge, the user must always be informed. This means that the user must be given immediate feedback. Feedback can be a visual display, (highlighted button), audio

- (beep) or a message. All communication should be brief, direct and in the users language.
- 8. Forgiveness: everybody makes mistakes. Let the users know that mistakes are reversible. Give the user a way to get assistance if they are confused or lost. Always provide user with a way to escape from the program.
- 9. Perceived stability allows the user to feel comfortable in the computer environment.

 Consistency of screen design and clear user directions give the user a feeling of security.
- 10. Aesthetic integrity is expressed in color combination, and the use of graphic objects for commands, features, parameters, choices, navigational options and data. An example would be to have the user click on the camera graphic to play a quicktime movie. (p. 176)

Technology Integration

In the nineties, more and more schools are using technology as an instructional tool.

Multimedia technology has exploded onto the scene as the answer for educating the "television generation." "The educational role of multimedia has not been defined and many professional educators are skeptical of the hype surrounding this new panacea; they remember well the days of programmed learning, teaching machines, computer assisted instruction, educational television, etc." (Peterson & Orde, 1995, p. 67).

The concerns and anxiety of many educators regarding the use of multimedia technology in the classroom is summed up beautifully in the above quotation. Many educators are afraid that this is just another one of "those things" to be used for individualized remediation or enrichment and tend to restrict its usage to a level that does not threaten teachers' understanding. The term multimedia, as used in the context of this project, can be defined in many ways. This ambiguity is illustrated by a quote from a leader of the industry:

Talking about multimedia is a lot like talking about love. Everybody agrees that it's a good thing, everybody wants it, wants to participate in it, but everybody has a different idea of what 'it' really is. Right now, the industry reminds me of a bunch of teenagers dabbling in something that instinctively feels right, all the while wondering how and when they'll know for sure if they're really in 'it' and what to do if they really are. (George McCabe, Senior Vice President, Applied Graphics Technologies, in Vaughan, 1994, p. 7.)

Currently, there seem to be four dominant definitions of the term multimedia. The definition chosen is determined by the makeup of the audience, the environment in which the equipment is being used and the knowledge level of the people using "it." These four definitions are the following:

1. Multimedia is the simultaneous presentation of

- a series of effects in more than two media, as by combining acting, flashing lights, tape recordings, etc. (Guralnik, 1980).
- 2. Multimedia is woven combinations of text, graphic art, sound, animation, and video elements (Vaughn, 1994).
- 3. Multimedia is a combination of media, (e.g., audio, video, and print), in which a microcomputer is at the hub of the system (D'Ignazio, 1980).
- 4. Multimedia, as defined by a person who was setting up equipment for a multimedia demonstration, is "anything that requires more than two trips to the car" (Murie, 1993).

The first definition seems to be the general population's understanding of the word. This definition is commonly used by educators when referring to a presentation that uses more than one form of media.

The second definition defines the term as used by people in the multimedia field, such as educators or multimedia developers. It involves the use of authoring tools (i.e., HyperCard, Hyperstudio). These two definitions fall into the category of linear multimedia because the person observing the presentation is a passive observer as the presentation goes from beginning to end. Some examples of this are training presentations, museum kiosks, and sales demonstrations.

The third and fourth definitions are more apt to be used

when one is making reference to nonlinear multimedia that require the involvement of the viewer. What gets played back and how it is presented to the viewer is a result of human interface (i.e., Groliers Multimedia Encyclopedia, 1992; Oregon Trail; 3-D Atlas). The platform and the environment determine the limits of what can happen. The platform is determined by the hardware (the type and age of the computer, amount of memory, accessories such as CD ROM, scanner, digitizer, A.V. input and output). The software (i.e., Quicktime, America Alive, Rap, Rock and Roll, Living Album) determines the limits of the environment. It is this last definition that leads to what young people today think of when they hear the term "multimedia." Many students have developed to the level beyond passive multimedia to the world of interactive multimedia in which the viewer of a multimedia project is allowed to control what and when the elements are delivered. They quickly are able to move to hypermedia in which the user is provided with a structure of linked elements through which the user can navigate.

Multimedia needs to be incorporated across the curriculum if students are going to be prepared to meet the real world head-on when they leave the protection of the public school system and face the expectations of the work place. According to Peterson and Orde,

to be prepared for life and work in the 21st
Century, students need to experience as many
aspects and capabilities of technology as resources
will allow. Our experience has shown that students

are capable of using the technology creatively, and, if left to their own devices, they will discover new ways to use technology as a tool for learning. (1995, p. 75)

One goal of this project is to have the learners develop a positive attitude toward the use of multimedia in the classroom. This will require addressing the cultural agendas of technological change. Tarrago (1994) identified the following as the six major aspects to be considered when attempting to establish a positive attitude toward the integration of information technology into the core curriculum.

- The integration of technological environments in education should not be seen as an isolated event but as an ongoing process occurring within an education system of great complexity.
- Educational organizations have a specific structure based on professional autonomy, this being a fundamental variable in innovation processes.
- Technological change is not a mere technical and productivity-related matter: it is a question of culture, an intrinsic part of the evolution of society and therefore of vital importance in contemporary education.
- Not only is the integration of information technology compatible with the overall goals of education, but the two are convergent, especially

when the goals are designed in terms of the development of pupils' abilities.

- Successful innovation based on information technology involves information technology involves adapting organizational structures.
- Staff training and job satisfaction are integral parts of the innovation process.

As stated by Phipps (in Fenwick, 1995), "The use of multimedia is a natural for kids. It is the world they know and live in" (p. 2).

A technology instruction program is "a key component to engage students in discussion, collaborative projects, and a range of similar interactive activities that reinforce language acquisition while providing much-needed context (Burns, 1996). Computer-assisted instruction (CAI), which is one form of technology instruction, has many advantages. First, it is bidirectional, which means that it provides interactive instruction. In the conventional classroom there is an active teacher and passive learners. Leung (1992) states that "teacher-pupil interaction is crucial to any learning" (p. 4). However, large class sizes create a situation where is very difficult for the teacher to provide all of the one to one interaction that is necessary in order for learning to occur. CAI has a teaching function which can play the role of instructor and provide one-on-one interaction with the student. The nature of CAI is to assume a tutor's role more readily than that of a lecturer (Hancock & Betts, 1994).

The second major advantage of the computer is individualization. In any class, there is a wide variety in student learning level, learning style and ability. Using this method the students can control their own progress. Individualized instruction does not necessarily mean individual instruction. Students working in cooperative groups, doing a role play or reenactment activity, or group research project are not only meeting their individual needs but also motivating other students (LaReau & Vockell, 1989).

Third, CAI has remedial teaching capability and the capacity for immediate feedback. The best time to tell learners whether their answer is right or wrong is when they are still interested in the topic. When the students answer incorrectly, the software can indicate the source of the errors and explain the information to them. Thus, CAI can give positive feedback, which can encourage students' interest and confidence, while negative feedback can help them correct or clarify their misconception. The computer can go back over information that a learner did not understand and help the student build their competence (LaReau & Vockell, 1989).

Fourth, CAI provides the ability to vary the rate of instruction, even within a single lesson. In most traditional classrooms, there is a wide variation in rate at which students learn. In this setting, the brightest students are forced to overlearn, while the slow students do not get enough repetition. Computer-assisted instruction can help students who learn quickly to gain more topic-related

information while providing intense study of the same objective or help in integrating the objectives covered in the unit with other objectives (LaReau & Vockell, 1989).

These factors provide learners the ability to acquire specific information and practice specific skills with comprehensible input, while helping students develop basic tools of learning. These tools can be applied to a wide variety of settings such as tutorials, simulations, word processing, games, problem solving, and drill and practice.

Recent developments in multimedia or hypermedia have simplified the creation of high-quality presentations so that they are becoming a viable instructional option for both teachers and students. The links between media and text can be designed for understanding of specific information on an individual level. An excellent example of this type of application is the Interactive Videodisc.

Interactive Videodisc provides numerous advantages for helping students to learn. Interactive Videodisc (IAV) combines visual and audio function in order to make learning more effective. The role of the computer in as IAV system becomes more manageable because "it accepts students' input, analyses it, and based on the analysis of a student's learning history, decides on appropriate scenes to show" (Chen, 1996, p. 59).

TAV reinforces the computer's function in individualizing instruction by allowing presentation of different versions of the same set of video segments, allowing students to choose their personal path to meet

individual needs (LaReau & Vockell, 1989). Chen (1996) claims that video has the following functions: "It presents realistic slices of life, enforces student's talking, and provides rich target language input" (p. 62).

The IAV system can eliminate learners' anxiety and promote their motivation. Students can depend on personal ability to adjust the pace and sequence of the lesson. Students can use different resources, such as dictionary, encyclopedia, and other on-line systems to meet different needs. An IAV system can help to balance the gap between student ability levels. The less talented students can develop their skills and build their confidence through personal IAV tutoring without asking questions in front of more advanced classmates while the more advanced students are encouraged to expand their skills and build their self esteem by the use of higher level materials (Bush & Crotty, 1989).

Using technology enhances learning because technology instruction provides interactive, individual teaching and supplemental comprehensible input and output which motivates students' learning interests and offers more effective learning.

History/Social Science Curriculum Frameworks

The history/social science classroom was chosen because of the availability of material, mandate of the state framework, and the need for the use of problem solving and critical thinking skills as learners attempt to understand the cultures of the past, their relationship with nature and the impact of change on their lifestyles, language and

beliefs. The Bradley Commission on History in Schools stated in their report entitled Historical Literacy: The Case For History In American Education,

Only recently have some important curriculum alternatives emerged, offering promise that long-needed change is indeed under way.

The most comprehensive and so far successful challenge to the constraining assumptions of the near-to-far curriculum model is the recently adopted History-Social Science Framework for California Public Schools, Kindergarten through Grade Twelve. (Gagon, 1989 p. 174)

The information in this project correlates to the 1988 History/Social Science Framework for California Public Schools Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, which requires the study of "American Indian settlements and how geographical factors influenced the location of these settlements, as well as their social organization, economic activities, legends and beliefs" (1988, p. 47). It also mandates that students will possess the basic study skills of history-social science which includes the ability to "retrieve and analyze information by using computers, microfilm and other electronic media" (ibid., p. 26). Content and media form a natural relationship. The National Council for Social Studies' Expectations of Excellence: Curriculum Standards for Social Studies (1994) includes the study of Native American Cultures at the fourth and eighth grade levels, which are ages in which learning technology can be readily incorporated into instruction.

The Role of Teacher Preparation Programs

Hancock and Betts (1994) state that the first place to address the issue of multimedia utilization in the classroom is in teacher preparation programs. According to the *The Wall Street Journal Classroom Edition* (1996, May), "Workers preparing for the twenty-first century must be strong in his thinking and problem solving skills required to design and engineer new products or find new ways of providing information or services. They will also need to be flexible enough to adapt from one employer and career to another" (p. 5).

The major road block to teachers using technology in the core curriculum comes from their previous experience with, or limited exposure to, technology. Teachers do not understand why the students using technology seem to retain more information; they only know that reinforcing learning with media is effective. For many teachers, the development of media-based pedagogical skills may be a personal challenge, inasmuch as they have never been exposed to media literacy training or classroom strategies (Cortes, 1992). What then can be done to help students develop media literacy? If students are to become better informed and more analytical media consumers, educators need to address mass media within the school system as a core element of the teaching-learning process. As Phillipo (1988) observes, in order to meet the changing needs of the learner, one must find new and creative ways to integrate the use of imagery into the classroom.

Students today have become sophisticated consumers of imagery. One must bear in mind that students today are able to obtain access to massive amounts of information; and, in most cases, they seek out that information through imagery. The influx of audiovisual materials into the classroom curriculum, and its natural progression to the use of multimedia materials, has helped to meet students' need for imagery. Students are able to incorporate their enactive, televisual and oral communications skills with their more recently acquired written language skills. It is therefore imperative that teacher preparation programs incorporate the use of technology into their curriculum instruction classes.

Literature on the Serrano People and Culture

The major portion of the reference list on the Serrano Indian Culture has been provided by Dr. Lynne Diaz-Rico. Although there exists a plethora of information on Indians in general, information on the Serrano Indians is difficult to find. Much of the information gathering had to come from interviews with the few Serrano Indians that are left, and with archeologists and museum curators. Much of the information is contradictory; the preponderance of my work is to insure that the information contained in this project is as accurate as possible. To this end, I have located and videotaped sites and artifacts to insure their preservation. The language information comes from Ernest Siva, one of three native Serrano language speakers known to exist. Ethnobotany information mainly comes from Dr. Lowell Bean and Katherine Siva Soubel. The San Manuel Band of Mission Indians Tribal

Council and the California Department of Forestry, as well as Dr. Gerald Smith (retired archeologist and local historian), have all been extremely cooperative and helpful with my efforts to procure and insure the accuracy of the information. Both the San Bernardino County Museum and the Los Angeles Museum of Natural History opened their exhibits and archival information for my use. Together these sources comprise the body of knowledge for use in this project.

CHAPTER THREE: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Instructional Goals and Objectives

Instructional goals of this project are intended to model multimedia instruction as a research and interactive learning tool for students. The instructional goals are threefold: (1) to demonstrate multimedia as a presentation tool; (2) to demonstrate an exemplary way to archive cultural information and artifacts; and (3) to provide as model for teachers as they incorporate multimedia technology into student projects.

The first of these goals consists of three key objectives: to demonstrate project-based curriculum and demonstrate how the use of multimedia can help students expand their knowledge of a specific subject area while incorporating learning from other subject areas; demonstrate how the use of integrated media to explore content through the use of problem solving and critical thinking skills; and the use of multimedia as a multimodal presentation tool.

Under the second goal, to show how historical/cultural information can be archived and accessed, the objectives are first, to demonstrate a variety of archival methods; and second, to sustain accurate documentation.

Under the third goal, this project offers two distinct theoretical models for the principled creation of student projects, one for information presentation and the other for information archive.

Multimedia as a Presentation Tool <u>Project-Based Learning</u>

Project-based learning gives students the opportunity to to become "the expert" on a specific subject area that falls within the parameters of the core subject area. For example students studying Native Americans could research the tribe of their choice. Students follow the basic steps of creating a research report: brainstorming; researching; outlining (this includes story boarding); writing; editing; peer editing; rewriting; and classroom presentation. Social science reports generally follow the format of the National History Day requirements. The evaluation format is based on the National History Day format (see appendix).

Project-based learning addresses all learning styles and allows for great latitude in a student's preferences in the learning environment. Creating a variety of environments within the classroom and encouraging students to work in groups where they can share their talents and interests requires very different teaching abilities than does standing in the front of the room and lecturing to students.

Investigative or discovery learning puts the students in charge of their education. The teacher's role is one of guiding and assisting students to create a project that is their own unique piece of work. The teacher is the mentor, friend, confidant and stabilizing force in the classroom. One of the most important aspects of this type of instruction is the development of mutual trust and respect. This environment gives the teacher the ability to spend more time with

students who need extra help, while encouraging other students to move ahead at their own speed.

In this non-threatening environment, students who might be a behavior problem in another classroom are able to become a productive part of a team or work independently in their own areas of expertise. The students begin to mentor each other and they work together to help a classmate find information or solve a problem.

Observations of students working on project-based curriculum in my classroom revealed that the students achieve the following group characteristics:

- · engage in the sharing of knowledge and information;
- · use problem solving when they encounter difficulties;
- · encourage creativity in their group members;
- agree upon job assignments and responsibilities;
- · develop feelings of accomplishment;
- · take pride in their work, and increase self esteem.

Critical Thinking and Problem Solving

The use of multimedia in the history/social science curriculum encourages students to use the basic skills and critical thinking skills enumerated in the History/Social Science Framework for California Public Schools Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, (1988, p. 7).

The creation of a multimedia project requires the student to use problem solving and critical thinking skills as they evaluate the information that they have gathered on their chosen subject area. Students must use problem solving and higher-level thinking skills as they learn to use new

pieces of equipment and troubleshoot technical problems.

Students need to be able to criticize ideas and to generate alternatives. Peer editing and critiquing are an important component of project based curriculum. Training students to use analogies can provide alternative frameworks for interpreting familiar facts, thus helping to build the bridge between criticism and creativity (Bransford & Stein, 1984).

The students working with multimedia exhibit the ability to perform independent investigation, are self-motivated, are very seldom off-task, and cooperate with each other in the sharing of materials. Without instructor suggestion, they also show an increase in the sharing of knowledge, self analysis, related problem solving skills, team sharing of responsibilities, as well as being more willing to take risks and try new ideas.

All of these learning strategies and basic skills fall into alignment with the recommendations of the California State Department of Education's Middle Grade Task Force Report, Caught in the Middle (1987) and the U. S. Department of Labor's SCANS 2000.

Variety in Presentation

The authoring tools for multimedia presentation programs have changed drastically in the past few years. The development by Roger Waggoner of the *HyperStudio* program was the beginning of a dramatic change in the presentation formats available, in a user-friendly modality. Today's users have a choice between *Digital Chisel*, *ClarisWorks Slide Show*,

Astound, Authorware, Power Point, Multimedia Producer, Director and HyperStudio. All of these programs run on a drag and click format, which means that the user does not need to learn a programming language in order to create a multimedia presentation. The development of the new computers, those supplied with audio-visual capabilities that incorporate non linear editing, gives the user a wide range of user-friendly options.

Today novices can incorporate their own sound bites and video clips, convert their video footage to quicktime movies, or compress their video in a variety of formats. In addition they can incorporate their own digitized photographs which they can have developed on CD ROM, at most photo developing businesses. This means that the user can import their own photographs, as well as clipart images. The development of the Internet services has given access to material from all over the world. The increase in educational CD ROMS provides a library of materials that can be stored in a space the size of a shoe box.

All of this gives today's teachers and students the ability to research any subject area and prepare a multimedia presentation from the information that has been gathered.

Today's teachers no longer need to stand in front of the class and put the students and themselves to sleep, for they have the ability to present information in a variety of formats. More importantly, they have the ability to guide their students in the development of their own research projects.

Students can use these projects in a variety of student competitions like History Day or Science Fair. The work the students are creating in the classroom can be used to share with parents, other teachers, administrators, or general public. Teachers can prepare lessons for their students to use as a group or individually. These teacher- or student-created programs provide a way to keep absent students from missing work, as well as give other students the freedom to peruse information at their own rate. The best of these programs can be printed or "burned" to CD ROM for future use. This is not only convenient but also limits the amount of necessary storage space.

When Thomas Armstrong (1994, p. 47) stated that "Gardner believes that intelligence has more to do with the capacity for solving problems and fashioning products in a contextrich and naturalistic setting," he must have been watching students work with multimedia.

Multimedia as an Archival Tool

Variety

One has the ability to choose from a variety of ways to use multimedia to archive content material in a structured manner through the use of the history/social science framework. One could choose to organize by decade, century, generation in a chronological order, by periods of exploration, or by technological development (e.g. invention of the wheel).

The Five Themes of Cultural Geography was chosen as the organizational format for this project because it covers all

of the areas that need to be addressed if one is to try to preserve historically accurate cultural information. These themes are the following: (1) Cultural Region; (2) Cultural Landscape; (3) Cultural Diffusion; (4) Cultural Ecology; and (5) Cultural Integration.

In addition, the multimedia format allows one the liberty to use the variety of media needed to preserve information about ethnobotany and music, as well as locations, artifacts and language. This project required the use of audio/visual-capable computers for digitizing videotape and sound, as well as use of the *HyperStudio* tool. The peripheral devices used were video cameras, scanners, digital cameras, external devices to store information, modems, printers, CD writer, VCR and playback monitor, in addition to the appropriate software to bring information gained from each medium into the computer.

This allows easy accessability of the archived information to anyone wishing to study it.

Documentation

The use of multimedia for documentation is one of the most important features that multimedia has to offer. The use of a video camera to import original footage as well as to display items that would otherwise be kept in a museum or archival facility, is unique. The researcher using the camera has the ability to document location at the time of the taping. The ability to scan photographs and other primary source materials into the computer and import them into an archival program gives the researcher a much-needed way to

access primary source information. The increase in Internet availability has added to one's ability to provide primary source documentation.

The documentation of the artifacts is crucial for verification of authenticity and ownership. An annotated bibliography is the best format. Researchers must be sure that they document the following: who found the artifact; to whom the item currently belongs to; what it is; where it was found; when it was found; why it is included; and how it was made available for use.

Documentation of music, video, songs and stories must be sure to conform with the copyright laws. Educators have a little more leeway than the general public; however, one must be careful not to overstep the boundaries. One must never use music/songs for a background without checking with the copyright owner to gain permission for use. A current revamping of copyright laws is currently in progress. Until the copyright controversy is resolved it is vital that researchers conform to existing law.

Principles of Multimedia Use in Teacher Education

The information on the following charts is broken down into a step-by-step process for creating a multimedia presentation or archive. The process steps are listed on the left side, and the skills, intelligence paradigm and social science framework reference are listed on the right. This allows the teachers to see how they are incorporating the framework requirements, while they are identifying the intelligence paradigm and the skills acquisition that is being addressed.

Table 1

	MULTIMEDIA DESIGN M	ODEL FOR PRESENTATION
4	Process	Intelligence Paradigm and Type of Skills Development
1.	Students decide on the specific subject area within the theme	 Linguistic intelligence. Define and clarify problems. Define and clarify problems.
2.	Students research the subject using a variety of media and conventional resources	2. Logical- Mathematical and Linguistic Intelligences. Audio/visual learning. Use community resources, and read various forms of literature and primary and secondary source materials. Locate, select, and organize information from written sources.
3.	Students document their sources using the APA annotated bibliography format	3. Logical-Mathematical and Linguistic intelligences. Judge information. Distinguish between fact, opinion and reasoned judgment. Identify unstated assumptions; recognize stereotypes, cliches, bias, and propaganda.
4.	Prioritize information and align with the theme	4. Logical-Mathematical intelligence. Resource skills, basic skills and critical thinking skills.
5.	Determine authoring tool	5. Spatial intelligence. System and technology skills.
6	Sequence the information and determine stack design	6 Logical-Mathematical intelligences.
7.	Develop a unifying screen design for presentation of information.	7. Visual and Spatial intelligences. Problem solving skills, critical thinking

	MULTIMEDIA	DESIGN N	ODEI	FOR	PRESENT	ATION
8.	Layout project storyboards Layout the project a. Screen desidetermine so background b. choose font (style, size. layout permount buttons: 1. Choose graphic 2. Determinations d. Write scrip 1. text 2. audio	resentation gn: screen : ce & color) nanent icon or che button	8.	Spatial ar intelliger express ic writing ar	nces. Orga deas clear	anize and
	Input informati authoring prog	ram	9.	Bodily-Ke	lc media.	e arn to
10	adjustments	dir dire indre		intellige	ence. Solv and draw	
11	• Evaluate credi final document		11.		ic intelli ills, info and think	ormation
12	Rehearse prese with appropriate equipment		12.	Linguisti and Intra intellige Basic and skills.	apersonal	
13	. Make presentat	ion	13.	and skill	sonal inte ls. Develo and prese	op public

Ta	ab	1	е		2
----	----	---	---	--	---

MULTIMEDIA	A DESIGN	MODEL FOR ARCHIVING
Pro	cess	Type of Skills Development and Intelligence Paradigm
1. Identify it archived	zems to be	1. Linguistic intelligence. Define and clarify problems.
2. Research it preservation	tems and justify	2. Logical-Mathematical and Linguistic intelligences. Audio/visual learning. Using community resources, and reading various forms of literature and primary and secondary source materials. Locate, select, and organize information from written sources.
possil b. Who con the in c. Where d. Date e. Origin	is it (if ble) urrently owns	3. Logical-Mathematical and Linguistic intelligences. Judge information. Distinguish between fact, opinion and reasoned judgment. Identify unstated assumptions; recognize stereotypes, cliches, bias, propaganda and semantic slanting.
(create sto a. Screen detern backg b. Choose (style c. Lay on button 1. C	n design: mine screen round e font: e, size & color) ut permanent ns: hoose icon or raphic etermine button ctions script:	4. Logical-Mathematical and Musical intelligences. Resource skills, basic skills and critical thinking skills.
2. At	udio e background	

Table 2 MULTIMEDIA ARCHIVING DESIGN MODEL FOR 5. Spatial intelligence. 5. Choose equipment: a. Computer System and technology skills. b. Authoring program c. Video editing program d. Equipment needed for importing information: video camera, scanner, digital camera, lights backdrop, tape recorder CD recorder Schedule use of the 6. Logical-Mathematical equipment intelligences. 7. Create program 7. Visual and Spatial a. Lay out program intelligences. Problem solving and critical according to thinking skills. storyboard b. Create quicktime movies c. Scan information d. Import photographs. e. Import frames from video 8. Spatial and Linguistic 8. Evaluation intelligences. Organize and a. Student editing express ideas clearly. b. Peer editing c. Teacher editing/input 9. Spatial and Linguistic intelligences. Organize and 9. Reevaluate express ideas clearly. 10. Logical-Mathematical and Bodily-Kenesthetic 10. "Burn" to CD or record intelligences. to video

CHAPTER FOUR: DESIGN OF THE PROJECT

Subject Matter

The subject matter for this project, The History of the Yohavitam (The People of the Pines) is the history of the Serrano Indians, their language and culture. This project was created in conjunction with the work done by Dr. Lynne T. Diaz-Rico and is based on her two books Seeking Santos: The History of the Serranos and Stories of the Serranos.

The support of the San Manuel tribe, their encouragement, and willingness to assist me with gaining access to artifacts and materials has been invaluable.

Actual footage of specific geographic locations will help to preserve the accurate history of this tribe.

The artifacts displayed in this project were found in a variety of places: the San Bernardino County Museum; Los Angeles County Museum of Natural History; the private collection of Dr. Gerald Smith, anthropologist and Serrano Indian expert; Serrano Indian Casino Conference Chamber; the San Bernardino Mountains at Pan Hot Springs (Maktsuk); Baldwin Lake; Los Flores Ranch; and the Yucaipaiem village site, Yucaipa, CA. This material was gathered with the assistance of the San Manuel Mission Indian Tribal Council, Dr. Lynne T. Diaz-Rico, Dr. Gerald Smith, and U.S. Forest Service Archeologist, Daniel McCarthy. Authenticity of the sites and artifacts the most important issue faced in the development of this project. It is difficult to separate the artifacts of different groups of California Indians because

there has been so much intermarriage of the tribes. This is especially true of the Takhtam or Serrano People, because of their cultural marriage laws which required that they marry outside of their clan. This means that a woman was removed from her birth clan and taken to live with her husband's people. The Serrano frequently intermarried with the Cahuilla, Gabrielino, Luiseno and Paiute People. The Serrano were known to be exemplary basket weavers and the baskets displayed in this project were identified as Serrano.

Finding the actual sites was a major undertaking because the U.S. Forest Service maps are not easily read. After crawling under barbed wire and climbing hillsides and aqueducts, it became apparent to me that a guide was needed in order to accurately locate the sites. Ernest Siva, coordinator of the Serrano Cultural Heritage Workshops, Daniel McCarthy, and Gerald Smith have provided that support and guidance.

The Learners

The learners that will use the project will be current and perspective teachers of elementary and middle school students. This project will be used by teachers to demonstrate to their students how multimedia can be used to present information to others, as well as archive information for further exploration and preservation. It is hoped that the San Manuel Band of Serrano Mission Indians will also be able to use this project to educate their children and other tribal members about their language, tribal history, and customs. Actual footage of specific geographic locations will

help to preserve the accurate history of this tribe.

Instructional Development

The instructional development of this project involves the development of an interactive multimedia project, recorded on compact disc, that demonstrates the use of multimedia as a research and presentation tool as well as an interactive learning tool for students. This project was created using the *Hyperstudio* integrated multimedia authoring program.

The Serrano language heard on the CD-ROM is spoken by one of the three remaining native speakers known to exist. Actual video footage of artifacts and important geographical locations provides users with primary source information that might not otherwise be available to them. In addition this work will provide an archive of Serrano history and culture.

Screen Design

This program is being created using Hyperstudio. The organization is based upon the Five Themes of Cultural Geography as described in Geographical Literacy Strand of the History-Social Science Framework for California Public Schools. The program will consist of multiple stacks, each stack consisting of information from one of the Five Themes (Jordan & Rowntree, 1990. p. 6), as they relate to the following identified areas of Serrano Culture:

1. Cultural Region

Location, Language, Religion, Ceremonies, and Creation Myths

2. Cultural Landscape

Petroglyphs, Terrain, Baskets and Food

3. Cultural Diffusion

Expansion Diffusion, Relocation Diffusion, History

4. Cultural Ecology

Ethnobotany, Housing, Animals, Weapons, Medicine, Customs, Music, and Clothing/Footwear

5. Cultural Integration

Preservation

The background color for the screens is to be burgundy with beige text. Each screen has three permanent buttons that allow the user to move to the next page, go back to the table of contents, or return to the previous page. All Serrano words are colored green and function as "hot" buttons that give the proper pronunciation of the words when they are clicked.

The opening screen is a quicktime movie of the San
Manuel Band of Mission Indian statue/fountain, "Serrano
Welcome" at the corner of Highland and Victoria Avenues in
Highland, CA.

The second screen has directions for program use. The third screen is the table of contents. Each of the five themes is a separate stack of its own with buttons that are depicted by a graphic object representative of the material contained within the stack. Each of these objects branches to the beginning of a different stack. The last page of each

stack returns to the table of contents.

Each stack contains clips of video and/or still frame shots obtained from video footage, as well as digitally imported primary source material. The screen design has a text box to the right, a graphic object area to the left, and permanent buttons across the bottom of the page. The "home" or return button is a graphic of a Serrano kish (hut); the forward button is a Serrano brave running to the right; and the reverse button is a Serrano brave running to the left. This allows the users to move through the information at their own pace as well as to return to a previous page to reevaluate or review previous information. The nonlinear sequencing of the information allows the user to choose areas of interest in a random manner.

The program concludes with a rolling list of credits.

These credits give verification of authenticity of artifacts as well as giving credit to people and organizations that assisted in the collection and verification of information.

The background music and songs were provided by Ernest Siva, Director of the Cultural Awareness Program for the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians.

CHAPTER FIVE: EVALUATION

In order to ensure that this project is historically accurate and meets the needs of its intended audience, the work was monitored by Dr. Lynne Diaz-Rico and various Native American consultants.

The project itself was designed to be evaluated by the rubric created for use with student programs (see Appendix A), This rubric was created to incorporate the basic skills identified in *Caught in the Middle* (1987, p. 26) as well as the requirements of the National History Day competition (see Appendix B).

Both of these sources emphasize the importance of being able to define, locate, and use a wide variety of research materials (including original documents, computer software, interviews, and direct observations, as well as conventional library materials and internet accessed information). In a good project, information is analyzed, interpreted, and combined with information gathered from texts and classroom lectures and is finally presented in an original, creative manner. Each project must demonstrate structured organization, and contain an introduction, middle and conclusion. The written material must be clear, correct and articulate, demonstrating the ability to synthesize knowledge and apply it to a new venue. Media should be appropriate to the topic and have visual impact.

A project should also demonstrates a basic understanding of good screen design (appropriate use of color, screen

layout, consistency, clear instructions for use, smooth transition between screens).

Students should be able to give and accept constructive criticism, demonstrating an understanding of the difference between the words "criticize", (to judge disapprovingly; find fault) and "critique" (a critical analysis or evaluation of a subject, situation or literary work).

The project should demonstrate the use and understanding of a variety of media.

Students should exhibit, use, and understand appropriate documentation of sources. All materials should be properly credited and bibliographic information should be appropriately cited.

Anticipated Student Outcomes

- Increased interest/excitement in history/social
 science classes
- · Successful participation by all students
- · Increased number of cross-curricular and team projects
- · Improved public speaking and presentation skills
- · Reduced behavioral problems
- · Positive student-teacher interaction increased
- Students willing to use their free time to complete and enhance projects
- Parent enthusiasm over student media projects that are brought home
- · Award-winning student projects

In summary, the first goal (to demonstrate multimedia as a presentation tool) can be evaluated by using Appendix A;

the second goal (the use of multimedia as an archival tool) can also be evaluated using Appendix A; and the third goal can be evaluated using tables 1 and 2. I welcome feedback from educators who make use of these principles in multimedia design.

Appendix A

MULTIMEDIA PROJECT RUBRIC SCALE 1-7 1 - OUTSTANDING 4 - SATISFACTORY 7 - UNACCEPTABLE 2 - EXCELLENT 5 - MINIMAL 3 - GOOD 6 - NEEDS WORK 3 6 7 HISTORICAL QUALITY --------- 30% HISTORICALLY ACCURATE SHOWS ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION PLACES TOPIC IN HISTORICAL CONTEXT DEMONSTRATES SIGNIFICANCE OF TOPIC IN HISTORY ORGANIZATION ----- 15% STAYS ON TOPIC HAS A CLEAR BEGINNING, MIDDLE AND END IS GRAMMATICALLY CORRECT USES CORRECT PUNCTUATION AND SPELLING USE OF A VARIETY OF RESOURCES ---- 15% USE OF ORIGINAL DOCUMENTS INTERVIEWS INTERNET RESOURCES ELECTRONIC RESOURCES USE OF CONVENTIONAL LIBRARY RESOURCES SCREEN DESIGN ----- 10% APPROPRIATE USE OF COLOR CONSISTENT SCREEN LAYOUT CLEAR INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE EASY TRANSPORTATION BETWEEN SCREENS USE OF A VARIETY OF MEDIA ----- 10% VIDEO CD-ROM LASER DISC DIGITAL CAMERA SCANNER INTERNET DOWNLOAD QUALITY OF PRESENTATION ----- 20% PRESENTATION IS CREATIVE AND ORIGINAL PRESENTATION IS WELL ORGANIZED MEDIA IS APPROPRIATE AND HAS VISUAL IMPACT WRITTEN MATERIAL IS CLEAR, CORRECT AND ARTICULATE

'nstructions for Judges:

- . Place a check mark on the line in the Evaluation box following each criterion where it best reliects your evaluation of the entry's success in active ving that criterion.
- . Write comments in the space provided to help and encourage students.
- Needs Work evaluations should be explained in comments.
 Criterion constituting rule Violations are noted with a a.
- . HISTORICAL QUALITY IS THE MOST IMPORTANT ASPECT OF HISTORY DAY. More weight should be given to the entry's Historical Quality, with respect to other criterion, when evaluating the entry and selecting finalists and winners.

JUDGE'S COMMENTS

JUDGING CRITERIA		E۷	ALL	JATIO	TION .				
	Oceataning	Essim	. 7	Satisfactory	Minimal	Needs Work			
fistorical Quality (60%) Envy is historically accurate					,	0			
Annotated bibliography shows how sources contributed understanding of topic						の			
Shows analysis and Interpretation, not just description Places topic in historical context									
Shows wide research and use of primary sources	ļ								
Adherence to Theme (20%) Clearly links topic to theme									
Demonstrates algolficance of topic in history	"								
Presentation of tópic is creative and original									
Wiltten material is class, correct, and articulate						W			
Student understands use of equipment									
a Students operated all equipment/ effects	-			A					

Appendix

Storyboard

Project:					Stack
Card #	Branch to	Card #	Branch to	Card #	Branch to
Description:		Description:		Description	
Audio script		Audio script		Audio scrip	<u>ot</u>
-					

Bibliography

- Armstrong, T. (1994). <u>Multiple intelligences in the classroom</u>. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Apple Computer Inc. (1989). <u>Human interface guidelines: The Apple desktop interface</u>. Cupertino, CA: Addison-Wesley.
- Baron J. & Sternberg, R. (Eds.). (1986). <u>Teaching thinking</u> skills: <u>Theory and practice</u>. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bijker, W., Hughes, T. and Pinch, T. (Eds.). (1990). <u>The social construction of technological systems</u>. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Birkerts, S. (1994). <u>The Gutenberg elegies: The fate of reading in an electronic age</u>. New York: Fawcett Columbine.
- Bransford, J., & Stein, B. (1984). The ideal problem solver.

 New York: W.H. Freeman and Company.
- Brigham, F. & Others (1994). <u>Hypermedia supports for student</u>
 learning. IN: Council for Exceptional Children.
 (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 378 965)
- Burns, D. (1996, March). Technology in the ESL classroom. Technology & Learning, 50-52.
- Bush, M. & Crotty, M. (1989). Interactive videodisk in language teaching. Modern technology in foreign language applications and projects. National Textbook Company.
- Caine, R. N. & Caine, G. (1994). Making connections:

 <u>Teaching and the human brain</u>. Menlo Park CA: Addison Wesley.
- California State Department of Education. (1987). <u>Caught in the middle</u>. Sacramento, CA: Office of State Printing.
- Campbell, B. (1994). <u>The multiple intelligences handbook</u>. Stanwood, WA: Campbell and Associates.
- Carmona, J.(1997). Social studies programs connect the past and present. T·H·E Journal 24 (7),10-16.

- Chen, S. (1996). A curriculum design project: Improving

 English communicative competence at the five-year

 vocational college level in Taiwan. Unpublished Master's
 thesis, California State University, San Bernardino.
- Chermayeff, M. Wurman, J., Caplan, J. & Bradford, S. (1994).

 <u>The design necessity</u>. Presentation at The First Federal Design Assembly.
- Cortes, C. (1992). Media literacy: an educational basic for the information age. <u>Education and Urban Society</u> 24(4), 489-497. Riverside, CA: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Crystal, D. (1997). Vanishing languages. <u>Civilization The Magazine of the Library of Congress</u>. 40-45.
- Beck, S. (1996). <u>Multimedia technology in the secondary</u>
 classroom. Unpublished Master's thesis, California State
 University, San Bernardino.
- D'Ignazio, F. (1980). <u>The Scholastic guide to classroom multimedia</u>. New York: Scholastic Inc.
- Fenwick, J. (1995). <u>Beginning the journey: Reflections</u>. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Education.
- Gagon, P. and the Bradley Commission on History in Schools, (Eds.). (1989). <u>Historic literacy: The case for history in American education</u>. New York: Macmillan Publishing
- Gagne, R., Briggs, L. & Wager, W. (1992). <u>Principles of instructional design</u>. Orlando: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.
- Gardner, H. (1983a). <u>Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences</u>. New York: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. (1983b). <u>Multiple intelligences: The theory in practice</u>. New York: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. & Hatch, T. (1989). Multiple Intelligences go to school. Educational Research 18 (8), 4-10.
- Guralnik, D. B. (Ed.). 1980. Webster's new world dictionary of the American Language: Second college edition. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Hancock, V. & Betts, F. (1994, April). From the lagging to the leading edge. <u>Educational Leadership</u>, 24-29.
- Havelock, E. (1976). Origins of Western literacy. Toronto:
 Ontario Institutes for Studies in Education.

- Havelock, E. (1986). The muse learns to write: Reflections on orality and literacy from antiquity to the present.

 New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Healy, J.(1990). Endangered minds: Why our children don't think and what we can do about it. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- History-social science framework for California public schools, kindergarten grade twelve. (1987). Sacramento, California: State Department of Education.
- Innis, H, (1951). <u>Bias of communication</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Innis, H, (1952). Changing concepts of time. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Jonassen, D. & Hannum, W. (1987). Research-based principles for designing computer software. <u>Educational Leadership</u>, 27, 7-14.
- Jordan, J. & Rowntree, L. (1990). <u>The human mosaic: a thematic introduction to cultural geography</u>. New York: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Kavanagh, J. (1978). The nature of California: An introduction to common plants and animals and natural attractions. San Francisco: Waterford Press.
- Krashen, S. (1985). <u>The input hypothesis: Issues and implications</u>. New York: Longman.
- Langsdorf, L. (1992). Reasoning in the language of television. <u>INQUIRY: Critical Thinking Across The Disciplines</u>, 9 17-23.
- LaReau, R. & Vockell, E. (1989). The computer in the foreign language curriculum. CA: Mitchell Publishing, Inc, 66-74.
- Leung, C. (1992). <u>National curriculum: ESL In primary</u>
 <u>education in England</u>. (ERIC Document Reproduction
 Service NO. ED 385 119)
- Liebman, M. <u>Issue paper on the impact on the instructional</u>
 materials adoption process of current and future
 technologies and electronic based materials. San Diego,
 CA: Education Council for Technology in Education.
 1996.

- McCarthy, B. (1980). The 4MAT system: Teaching to learning styles with right/left mode techniques. Excel, 1980.
- McLuhan, M. (1962). The Gutenberg galaxy: The making of typographic man. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- McLuhan, M. (1964). <u>Understanding media: The extensions of man</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Malhotra, Y. & Erickson, R. (1994, April). Interactive educational technology: Coping with the need for increasing data storage. Educational Technology, 38-45.
- Murie, M. (1993). MACINTOSH multimedia workshop. Indianapolis: Hayden Books.
- National Council for the Social Studies (1994). Expectations of excellence: Curriculum standards for social studies.

 Alexandria, VA: Scorpio Educational Communications.
- Nickerson, J., (1986). In Baron J. & Sternberg, R. (Eds.)

 <u>Teaching thinking skills: Theory and practice(p.2).</u>

 New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Ong, W. (1971). <u>Rhetoric, romance and technology</u>. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Ong, W. (1982). Orality and literacy: The technologizing of the word. London: Methuen.
- Paul, R., Binker, A., Martin, D., Vetrano, C., Kreklau, H. (1989). <u>Critical thinking handbook: A guide for remodeling lesson plans in language arts, social science, & science</u>.Rohnert Park, CA: Sonoma State University.
- Peterson, N., & Orde, B. J. (1995). Implementing multimedia in the middle school curriculum: pros, cons, and lessons learned. T·H·E Journal, 22 (7), 67-69.
- Phillipo, J. (1988, September). Videos impact on the changing needs of the learner. <u>Electronic Learning</u>, 6-7.
- Rothenberg, D. (1994). Information technology in education.

 <u>Annual Review of Information Science and Technology</u>,

 <u>29</u>, 277-302.
- Schreck, R. & Schreck, J. (1991). Teaching English as a second or foreign language. In M. Celce-Murcia (Ed.), Computer Assisted Language Learning (472-486). Boston, MA: Heinle & Heinle Publishers.

- Soloway, E. (1991), September). How the Nintendo generation learns. <u>Communications of the AMC</u> 34 23-26. Medford, NJ: Learned Information, Inc.
- The Wall Street Journal Classroom Edition. (1996). Careers and the future: Jobs in the global workplace, New York, NY: The Wall Street Journal, p. 5.
- Tarrago, F.R.(1994). The integration of new technology environments in education. Educational Media International, 31 (3), 17-24.
- Vaughan, T. (1994). <u>Multimedia: Making it work</u>. Berkeley: Osborne McGraw-Hill.
- Vockel, E. & Schwartz, E. (1992). The computer in the classroom. New York: Mitchell McGraw-Hill, Inc.
- Von Wodike, M.(1993). <u>Instructor's guide to accompany mindover media</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Von Wodike, M.(1993). Mind over media: Creative thinking skills for electronic media. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Woolfolk, A. (1995). <u>Educational psychology 6th Ed</u>. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

SERRANO REFERENCES

- Adams, H. E. (1958, Summer). A comparison of ceremonial practices among the Serrano and Pass Cahuilla Indians. San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 5(4), 1-23.
- Aleshire, P.(1981, December). The loss of the shaman.

 <u>Desert</u>, 26-29.
- Allen, P. G.(1986). The sacred hoop: Recovering the feminine in American Indian traditions. Boston, MA:

 Beacon Press.Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior. (1978).

 Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Austin, M. (1988). The land of little rain. Middlesex, ENG: Penguin Books.
- Bakker E. (1971). An island called California. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press.
- Bard, C. L. (1930, Jan.). Medicine and surgery among the first Californians. <u>Touring Topics</u>, 19-30.
- Bean, L. B. (1978). Cahuilla. In R. F. Heizer, Ed., <u>Indians</u> of North America, Vol. 8 California, 575-587. Washington, DC: Smithsonian Institution.
- Bean, L. J. & Bourgeult, L. (1989). <u>The Cahuilla</u>. In Indians of North American Series, F. W. Porter III (Ed.). New York: Chelsea House Publishers.
- Bean, L. J. & Saubel, K. S. (1972). <u>Temalpakh: Cahuilla</u>
 <u>Indian knowledge and usage of plants</u>. Banning, CA: Malki
 Museum Press.
- Bean, L. B. & Smith, C. R. (1978). Serrano. In R. F. Heizer, Ed., <u>Indians of North America, Vol. 8 California</u>, 570-574. Washington, DC: Smithsonian Institution.
- Bean, L. B. & Lawton, H. (1965). <u>The Cahuilla Indians of Southern California</u>. Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press.
- Bean, L. J., Vane, S. B., Lerch, M. and Young, J. (1981).

 Native American places in the San Bernardino National
 Forest, San Bernardino and Riverside Counties,
 California. Menlo Park, CA: Cultural Systems Research,
 Inc.
- Beattie, G. W. & Beattie, H. P. (1951). <u>Heritage of the valley</u>. Oakland, CA: Biobooks.

- Beattie, K. (1995, Dec. 7). A look back...life on the San Manuel reservation. <u>Highland Community News</u>, 12.
- Beechey, W. S. (1831). Narrative of a voyage to the Pacific and Bering's Strait. London, H. Colburn & R. Bentley. Cited in Heizer, R. F. and Almquist, A. F. (1971). The other Californians: Prejudice and discrimination under Spain, Mexico, and the United States to 1920. Berkeley, CA; University of California Press.
- Benedict, R. (1928). Psychological types in the cultures of the Southwest. Proceedings of the 23rd International Congress of Americanists. Reprinted in An anthropologist at work (M.Mead, Ed., 1959). Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin and Cambridge, ENG: Riverside Press.
- Benedict, R. (1924). A brief sketch of Serrano culture.

 American Anthropologist, 26 (3), 366-392; abridged and reprinted in An anthropologist at work (M. Mead, Ed., 1959). Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin and Cambridge, ENG: Riverside Press, 213-221 (page references are from 1959 version).
- Benedict, R. (1923). The concept of the guardian spirit in North America. Memoirs of the American Anthropology Association, No. 27.
- Benedict, R. (1926). Serrano tales. <u>The Journal of American</u> Folk-Lore, 39(151), 1-17.
- Billy Holcomb Chapter E. Clampus. (1986, May 4). The battle at Chimney Rock. Lucerne Valley, CA: Author.
- Bollinger, V. (1962, Winter). The Serrano Indians, early inhabitants of Victor Valley. San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 9(2), 1-13.
- Brief, S. (1995, December 14). Anderson School gets adopted by San Manuel Indians. <u>Highland Community News</u>, 4.
- Brooks, R. (1996a, April 29). Story of three bears: A fairy tale comes true at mountain zoo. San Bernardino Sun, Bl.
- Brooks, R. (1996b, May 11). Grizzles return to the mountains. San Bernardino Sun, Bl.
- Bureau of American Ethnology (1958). Map of early Indian settlement sites in Southern California. Bulletin 78 Plate 57 (from <u>Handbook of the Indians of California</u>).

- Burgess, L. (1988). Commission to the Mission Indians 1891.

 <u>San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly</u>,

 <u>35</u>(1).
- Burgess, L. and Sandos, J. (1996, May 11). "The Hunt for Willie Boy." San Bernardino, CA: First Annual Harry Rheubottom/George Webster Local History Lecture, CSU, San Bernardino.
- California Department of Education (1991). The American Indian: Yesterday, today, and tomorrow. Sacramento, CA: Author.
- Casebier, D. G. (1974, Sept.). <u>Fort Pah-Ute California</u>. Norco, CA: Tales of the Mohave Road Publishers. No.4.
- Catlado, N. R. (1981). History of Patton State Hospital: Century mark is passed by Indian, May 22, 1907. Heritage Tales. City of San Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society, 31-43.
- Church, S. (1996, December 24). 20 bald eagles observed in count. San Bernardino Sun, B-1.
- Churchill, W. (1994). <u>Indians are us? Culture and genocide</u>
 <u>in native North America</u>. Monroe, ME: Common Courage
 Press.
- Collier, J. (1947). <u>The Indians of the Americas</u>. New York: New American Library.
- Cook, S. F. (1943). The conflict between the California Indian and white civilization. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press. 1, 11-157. Reprinted in California controversies: Major issues in the history of the state, L. Pitt, (Ed.). Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman, 1968.
- Costo, R. & Costo, J. H. (1987). <u>The Missions of California: A legacy of genocide</u>.
- Costo, R. & Costo, J. H. (1995). <u>Natives of the golden</u>
 <u>state: The California Indians</u>. San Francisco, CA: The
 Indian Historian Press.
- Crowe, E. (1957). Men of El Tejon: Empire in the Tehachapis. Los Angeles, CA: The Ward Ritchie Press.
- Culin, S. (1975). Games of the North American Indians. New York: Dover.

- Curey, J. L. (1987). <u>Back in the before time</u>. New York: Macmillan (Margaret K. McElderberry Books.
- Dart, J. A. (1986, July 27). Bingo parlor's neighbors give Indians B grade. San Bernardino Sun, B-1.
- Diamond, M. (1996a, May 12). Casino takes on Las Vegas. <u>San</u>
 <u>Bernardino Sunu</u>, D-1.
- Diamond, M. (1996b, September 18). San Manuels seek Norton housing. San Bernardino Sun, A-1, A-2.
- Díaz-Rico, L. (1996). Stories from the Serranos. Highland, CA: San Manuel Band of Mission Indians.
- Díaz-Rico, L. (1997). <u>Seeking Santos: The history of the Serranos</u>, Highland, CA: San Manuel Band of Mission Indians.
- Doherty, C. A. and Doherty, K. M. (1994). <u>The Cahuilla</u>. Vero Beach, FL: Rourke Publications.
- Driver, H. E. (1961). <u>Indians of North America</u>. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Dugdale, V. (1966). <u>Album of North American animals</u>. Chicago: Rand McNally.
- Eargle, D. H. (1986). <u>The Earth is our mother</u>. San Francisco: Trees Company Press.
- Earle, D. D. (1993, Jan. 7). The Indians of San Bernardino Valley. Presentation, San Bernardino City Library.
- Earle, D. D. (1991, Sept.). <u>Indians of the Upper Mojave</u>
 <u>River</u>. Lancaster, CA: Lancaster County Museum, 33-67.
- Emerson, L. (1996, Oct. 5). The Native Creative Process Institute, California Association for Mediated Learning Conference, San Diego.
- Erdoes, R. & Ortiz, A. (1984). American Indian myths and legends. New York: Pantheon Books, 438-9.
- Faber, G. & Lasagna, M. (1980). Whispers from the first Californios: A story of California's first people.
 Alamo, CA: Magpie Publishers.
- Fisher, A. B. (1965). <u>Stories California Indians told</u>. Sacramento, CA: California State Department of Education.

- Flaherty, V. X. (1968). Vincent X. Flaherty plumps for mass recreation. In <u>California controversies: Major issues in the history of the state</u>, L. Pitt (Ed.). Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman. (original columns in <u>San Bernardino Sun-Telegram</u>, July 23-38, 1965)
- Forbes, J. (1982). <u>Native Americans of California and Nevada</u>. Happy Camp, CA: Naturegraph Publishers.
- Garr, D. (1972, Winter). Planning, politics and plunder: The missions and Indian Pueblos of Hispanic California.

 <u>Southern California Quarterly</u> 54(4), 291-311.
- Geiger, M. (1965). Mission Santa Barbara, 1782-1965. Santa Barbara: Franciscan Fathers of California, 28-74. Reprinted in California controversies: Major issues in the history of the state, L. Pitt (Ed.). Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman, 1968.
- Gilliland, H. (1989). <u>Teaching the Native American</u>. Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt Publishing.
- Haenzel, A. (1976). A tour of historical Cajon Pass.

 Redlands, CA: San Bernardino County Museum Association.
- Haenzel, A. & Reynolds, J. (1975). The historic San

 Bernardino Mission District: A self-guided driving tour.

 San Bernardino, CA: San Bernardino County Museum

 Association.
- Hardin, M. A. (1997). (personal communication, May 29, 1997) Interview, Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Los Angeles, CA. Discussion of history and location of artifacts.
- Harley, R. B. (1990). <u>Hispanic beginnings</u>, 1774-1834.

 <u>Readings in Diocesan history (Vol. 1)</u>. San Bernardino,

 CA: Diocese of San Bernardino.
- Harley, R. B. (1991). <u>Mission San Gabriel expands eastward</u>, 1819-1834. Readings in Diocesan history (Vol. 2). San Bernardino, CA: Diocese of San Bernardino.
- Harley, R. B. (1992). By the gentle water: Agua Mansa and San Salvador parish, 1842-1893. Readings in Diocesan history (Vol. 3). San Bernardino, CA: Diocese of San Bernardino.
- Harley, R. B. (1993). <u>St. Boniface School. Readings in Diocesan history (Vol. 8</u>). San Bernardino, CA: Diocese of San Bernardino.

- Harley, R. B. (1994). Ethnic diversity in Diocesan history.

 Readings in Diocesan history (Vol. 10). San

 Bernardino, CA: Diocese of San Bernardino.
- Harrington, J. (1986). <u>John Harrington Papers, Vol. 3:</u>
 <u>Southern California/Basin</u>. Smithsonian Institution,
 Washington, DC. Microfilm edition. Millwood, NY: Kraus
 International Publications.
- Harshman, V. R. (1992). <u>The story of Lytle Creek Canyon</u>. Lytle Creek, CA: Guthrie Publishers.
- Heizer, R. F., Ed. (1974). <u>The destruction of the California Indians</u>. Salt Lake City/Santa Barbara: Peregrine Smith Publishers.
- Heizer, R. F.& Almquist, A. F. (1971). The other Californians: Prejudice and discrimination under Spain, Mexico, and the United States to 1920. Berkeley, CA; University of California Press.
- Heizer, R. F. & Almquist, A. F. (1980). <u>The natural world</u> of the California Indians. Berkeley, CA; University of California Press.
- Heizer, R. F. & Whipple, M .A.(1971). <u>The California</u> <u>Indians: A source book</u>. Berkeley, CA; University of California Press.
- Hill, J. H. and Nolaquez, R. (1973). <u>Mulu'wetam: The first people</u>. Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press.
- Hinton, L. (1994). Flutes of fire: Essays on California
 Indian languages. Berkeley, CA: Heydey Books.
- Holladay, F. (1988a). When San Bernardino shook, rattled, and rolled. <u>Heritage Tales</u>. City of San Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society, 4-5.
- Holladay, F. (1988b). The mysterious Politana. <u>Heritage</u>
 <u>Tales</u>. City of San Bernardino Historical and Pioneer
 Society, 4-5.
- Hooper, L. (1920). The Cahuilla Indians. <u>University of California Publications in American archeology and ethnology, 16(6)</u>, 315-380; reprinted in 1978 as Kroeber, A. L. and Hooper, L., <u>Studies in Cahuilla culture</u>, Classics in American Anthropology series #4.Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press, 41-106.
- Hunt, R. D. (1953). <u>California in the making</u>. Caldwell, ID: Caxton Publishers.

- Hutchens, A. R. (1969). <u>Indian herbology of North America</u>. Ontario, Canada: Merco Publishers.
- Hutchinson, W. H. (1969). <u>California: Two centuries of man, land, and growth in the golden state</u>. Palo Alto, CA:

 American West Publishers.
- Indian Nations at Risk Task Force. (1991). Final report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- Johanneck, D. P. (1975). A history of lumbering in the San Bernardino mountains. San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 22(3 & 4).
- Johnson, F. J. (1965). <u>The Serrano Indians of Southern</u> California. Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press.
- Johnson, M. G. (1994). <u>The native tribes of North America: A concise encyclopedia</u>. New York: Macmillan.
- Josephy, A. M. Jr. (Ed.) (1961). The American Heritage book of Indians. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Keeling, R. (1992). Music and culture areas of native California. <u>Journal of California and Great Basin Anthropology</u>, <u>14</u>(2), 146-158.
- Kelly, D. (1987, March 1). Bingo: It's in the cards. San Bernardino Sun, E-1.
- Knill, H. (1992). <u>Great Indians of California</u>. Santa Barbara, CA: Bellerophon Books.
- Korb, C. (1995/6, Winter). Advocates for Indigenous California Language Survival Newsletter, 2(4), 41.
- Kotzen, A. (1994). <u>Malki Museum's native foods tasting</u>
 <u>experience</u>. Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press
- Kroeber, A. L. (1925). <u>Handbook of Indians of California</u>. Bureau of American Ethnology Bulletin 78, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, DC. (Reprinted, 1976, Dover Publications, New York).
- Kroeber, A. L. (1923). A ghost-dance in California. <u>Journal</u> of American Folk-Lore, <u>17</u>(64), 32-35.

- Kroeber, A. L. (1908). Ethnography of the Cahuilla Indians.

 <u>University of California Publications in American</u>

 <u>Archeology and Ethnology</u>, 8(2), 29-68; reprinted in

 1978 as Kroeber, A. L.and Hooper, L., Studies in

 <u>Cahuilla Culture</u>, Classics in American Anthropology
 series #4. Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press, 1-39.
- Langsdorff, G. H. von (1927). <u>Langsdorff's narrative of the Rezanov voyage to Nueva California in 1806</u>. San Francisco, CA: Press of T. C. Russell.
- Lawrence, E. (1931, Mar.). Mexican trade between Santa Fe and Los Angeles 1830-1848. Quarterly of the California Historical Society, 10(1), 27-40).
- Lerch, M. K. and Haenzel, A. (1981). Life on Cottonwood Row. Heritage Tales. San Bernardino, CA: City of San Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society.
- Lugo, José del Carmen (1877). <u>Vida de un ranchero</u>. Transl. by H. P. Beattie, 1950.
- Luque, S. (1996, Dec. 3). Developers cast eyes on Indian burial site. <u>San Bernardino County Sun</u>, B-1.
- Lyman, E. L. (1996). <u>San Bernardino: The rise and fall of a California community</u>. Salt Lake City: Signature Books.
- McCarthy, D. (1996, August 3). Interview, U. S. Forest Service Visitor Center site under excavation, Fawnskin, CA.
- McCarthy, D. (personal communication, May 26,1996).

 Discussion of Big Bear village and ceremonial sites as well as artifacts.
- McCawley, W. (1996). <u>The First Angelinos: The Gabrielino</u>
 <u>Indians of Los Angeles</u>. Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press
 and Novato, CA: Ballena Press.
- McCoy, R. (1988). <u>Summoning the gods: Sand painting in the Native American Southwest</u>. Flagstaff, AZ: Museum of Northern Arizona.
- McDonnell, J. A. (1991). <u>The dispossession of the American Indian, 1887-1934</u>. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.
- McDonald, R. P. (1984). The Reche brothers. <u>Heritage Tales</u>. San Bernardino, CA: City of San Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society, 26-35.

- McDonald, R. and McDonald, N. (1980). Console mineral water.

 <u>Heritage Tales</u>. San Bernardino, CA: City of San

 Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society.
- Macduff, C., and Whitehair, J. (1996, January 23). Gambling breathes life into economy. San Bernardino Sun, A-1 & A-4.
- Macmillan, D. (1996). <u>Missions of the Los Angeles area</u>. Minneapolis, MN: Lerner Publishing.
- McWilliams, C. (1946). <u>Southern California country: An island on the land</u>. In E. Caldwell (Ed.), American Folkways series. New York: Duell, Sloan and Plarge.
- Mallhiessen, P.(1979). <u>Indian country</u>. New York: Viking, 226-227.
- Manuel, Santos (Pákuma). (circa 1915). Interviews, J. Harrington. Washington, DC: Smithsonian Museum.
- Martin, K. (1996). Listen!: Native radio can save language. Native Americas; Akwekon's Journal of Indigenous Issues, 22-29.
- Maurer, E. M. (1977). <u>The Native American heritage: A survey of North American art</u>. Chicago, IL: The Art Institute of Chicago.
- Miller, B. W. (1991). <u>The Gabrielino</u>. Los Osos, CA: San River Press.
- Miller, R. D. and Miller, P. J. (1967). <u>The Chemehuevi</u> <u>Indians of Southern California</u>. Banning, CA: Malki Museum Press.
- Montano, R. (1995, December 17). Indian activist Means sees gambling as a wrong turn. San Bernardino Sun, B-1.
- Mooney, J. M. (1928). <u>The aboriginal population of America North of Mexico</u>. Washington, DC: Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections, <u>53</u>(7).
- Morey, S. M. & Gilliam, O. L. (Eds.). (1974). Respect for life: The traditional upbringing of American Indian children. Garden City, NY: Waldorf Press.
- National Geographic Society (1974). The world of the <u>American Indian</u>. Washington, DC: Author.

- Noriega, J. (1991). American Indian education in the United States: Indoctrination for subordination to colonialism. In M. A. Jaimes, Ed., <u>The state of Native America</u>:

 <u>Genocide, colonization and resistance</u>. Boston, MA:
 South End Press.
- Notes, A. (1978). <u>Basic call to consciousness</u>. Summertown, TN: Book Publishing.
- Parsons, J. J. (1955, Spring). The uniqueness of California.

 <u>American Quarterly 7(1)</u>, 45-55. Reprinted in <u>California</u>

 <u>controversies: Major issues in the history of the state</u>,

 L. Pitt (Ed.). Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman, 1968.
- Patton, G. (1995, November 27). She holds the reins as San Manuel rises (interview with Lynn Le Roy). San Bernardino Sun, D-1, D-4.
- Pavlik, B. M., Muick, P. C., Johnson, S., and Popper, M. (1991). Oaks of California. Los Olivos, CA: Cachuma Press and the California Oak Foundation.
- Peat, F. D. (1987). Synchronicity: The bridge between matter and mind. New York: Bantam Books.
- Pierson, E. (1970). <u>The Mojave River and its valley</u>. Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clarke Co.
- Pike, J. F. (1985). Stories of pioneer days, Ed. by A. Haenzel. <u>Heritage Tales</u>. San Bernardino, CA: City of San Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society.
- Pool, B. (1996, February 19). Bear of a goal. <u>Los Angeles</u>
 Times, A-3, A-18.
- Price, F. (1956, Aug. 12). Mission life. Santa Barbara New-Press. Public papers of the Presidents of the United States: Richard Nixon, 1970. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 564-576.
- Prucha, F. P. (1985). <u>The Indians in American society</u>. Berkeley, Los Angeles and London: University of California Press.
- Ramírez, K. (1996, February). Remarks at the dedication of the statue, "Serrano Welcome" at Highland and Victoria.
- Rand, E. H. (1983). A land apart: The heritage of East Highland Ranch. Highland, CA: East Highland Ranch Association.

- Rawls, J. J. (1984). <u>Indians of California: The changing image</u>. Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press.
- Reader's Digest Association.(1995). Through Indian eyes: The untold story of Native American people. Pleasantville, NY: Author.
- Robinson, J. W. (1989). <u>The San Bernardinos</u>. Arcadia, CA: Big Santa Anita Historical Society.
- Robinson, J. W. (1991). <u>San Gorgonio: A wilderness</u>
 preserved. San Bernardino, CA: San Gorgonio Volunteer
 Association, 5-6.
- Rolle, A. F. (1963). <u>California: A history</u>. Arlington Heights, IL: AHM Publishing.
- Roske, R. J. (1968). <u>Every man's Eden: A history of California</u>. New York: Macmillan.
- Royce, J. (1908). The Pacific coast: A psychological study of the relations of climate and civilization, in J. Royce, Race questions: Provincialism and other american problems. New York: Macmillan, 169-225. Reprinted in California Controversies: Major Issues in the History of the State, L. Pitt (Ed.). Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman, 1968, pp. 4-11.
- Ruoff, A. L. B. (1991) <u>Literatures of the American Indian</u>. New York: Chelsea House.
- Rush, P. S. (1953). <u>Historical sketches of the Californios:</u>
 <u>Spanish and Mexican periods</u>. San Diego, CA: Neyenesch
 Publishers.
- Sahagun, L. (1986, October 12.) Bingo! Indians aren't always the winners. Los Angeles Times, I-3.
- Saubel, K. S. (1996). <u>The Cahuilla Creation Story</u>. (audiotape). Banning, CA: Malki Museum.
- Savage, P. M. Jr. (1986). Growing up in San Bernardino.

 <u>Heritage Tales</u>. San Bernardino, CA: City of San

 Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society, 39-47.
- Shepard, G. (1989, Oct. 19). Letter to Arda Haenzel. San Bernardino City Library archives.
- Shipek, F. C. (1991). <u>Delfina Cuero: Her autobiography, an account of her last years and her ethnobotanic contributions</u>. Menlo Park, CA: Ballena Press.

- Sigler, D. (1968). Diana P. Sigler defends the wild area. In california controversies: Major Issues in the history of the state, L. Pitt (Ed.). Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman. (original columns in San Bernardino Sun-Telegram, October 24-November 3, 1965)
- Silva, A. M. & Cain, W. C. (1976). <u>California Indian</u>

 <u>Basketry</u>. Cypress, CA: Cypress College Fine Arts Gallery

 Exhibit Annotations
- Simpson, R. D., Haenszel, A., Reynolds, R. E. & Bowers, D. (1972, Fall). Rock Camp: San Bernardino Mountain archeological excavation. San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 20(1).
- Siva, A. (1996, June 8). The story of the songs. Presentation, Morongo Feed Store Pow Wow.
- Siva, E. (personal communication May 26,1996). The story of Morongo. Presentation, Malki Museum, Banning, CA.
- Siva, E. (personal communication June 22, 1996) Presentation on Serrano culture, San Manuel Reservation, Highland, CA.
- Siva, E. (personal communication, October 13,1996). The story of Morongo. Malki Museum, Banning, CA.
- Siva, E. (personal communication, March 26,1997). Discussed Serrano Language and discussed the most important village sites.
- Siva, E. (personal communication, April 19,1997). Presentation on Serrano language and songs, San Manuel Reservation, Highland, CA.
- Siva, E. (personal communication, May 29,1997). Discussed pottery, burial rights, basket making and Birdsongs.
- Siva, E. (personal communication, December 21,1996).

 Presentation on Serrano language, string figures, story
 Ivii' Ama' Tamyit Amaiham (Children of the Sun.)
- Smiley Park Centennial committee (1995). <u>Sawdust, seasons</u>, and serenity: A centennial history of Fredalba and <u>Smiley Park</u>. San Bernardino, CA: Author.
- Smith, G. A. (1939). The influence of the white man upon the culture of the Indians of the San Bernardino valley.

 Redlands, CA: University of Redlands unpublished master's thesis.

- Smith, G. A. (1994). <u>I was invited to Louisa's doings</u>. Presentation, The Fortnightly Club, Redlands, CA.
- Smith, G. A. (1950). <u>Prehistoric man of San Bernardino</u>

 <u>Valley</u>. Redlands, CA: San Bernardino County Historical
 Society.
- Smith, G. A. (personal communication April 13, 1997) Visit to Serrano village sites, located important ceremonial sites, told legends, identified items of ethnobotanical importance and located sites of historical significance.
- Smith, G. A. (personal communication 1997, May 9).

 Demonstrated for video tape: flint napping, Serrano weapons, tools, and baskets.
- Smith, G. A. (personal communication May 17,1997). Visited important village sites in Yucaipa, Rialto, And Colton. Discussed terrain and geographical impact on village locations.
- Smith, G. A. & Moseley, M. (1962, Winter). Archeological investigations of the Mojave River drainage. San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 9(3)
- Smith, G. A., Sexton, R., & Koch, E. J. (1960, Spring). Juan Antonio, Cahuilla Indian chief: A friend of the whites.

 San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 8

 (1), 1-23.
- Spiller, S. T. (1979). SAN MANUEL INDIAN RESERVATION: AN examination of its history. Riverside, CA: University of California, Riverside unpublished field report, Department of History.
- Steer, D. (1996). <u>Native American women</u>. New York: Barnes and Noble Books.
- Stephens, M. (1993, January 17) Pop goes the world. Los Angeles Times Magazine, pp. 22-26,34.
- Stern, S. (1987, September 22). More money urged for bingo parlor foes. San Bernardino Sun, B-1.
- Strasser, F. (1983, May 29). Armed guards sent in during one contract drive. Miami Herald, 22A.
- Strong, W. D. (1929). Aboriginal society in Southern California. <u>University of California Publications in American Archeology and Ethnology</u>, 26(1), 1-358. (Reprinted, 1972, Malki Museum Press, Banning, CA.)

- Stejskal, J. F. (1984, Jan. 8). <u>Artesian wells A 1909</u> <u>source of amusement in the City of San Bernardino</u>. San Bernardino, CA: San Bernardino City Water Department.
- Stoebe, M. G. (1976). <u>A history of Rialto</u>. Rialto, CA: Rialto Unified School District.
- Sun Bear with Wabun Wind. (1992). Black dawn, bright day.
 New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Thompson, R. S. (1978). The founding of San Bernardino's Chinatown. <u>Heritage Tales</u>. San Bernardino, CA: City of San Bernardino Historical and Pioneer Society.
- Thompson, R. D. & Thompson, K. (1995). <u>Pioneer of the Mojave: The life and times of Aaron G. Lane</u>. Apple Valley, CA: Desert Knolls Press.
- Thornton, R. (1987). <u>American Indian holocaust and survival:</u>
 a population history since 1492. Norman, OK and London:
 University of Oklahoma Press.
- Thurman, F. (1970, Spring). The Cahuillas and white men of San Carlos and Coyote Canyon. San Bernardino County

 Museum Association Quarterly, 17(4).
- United States Forest Service (1995). <u>Visitor's guide, San</u>
 <u>Bernardino National Forest.</u> San Bernardino, CA: San
 Bernardino National Forest.
- Vickery, J. C. (1977). <u>Defending Eden: New Mexican pioneers</u>
 <u>in Southern California 1830-1890</u>. Riverside, CA:
 Department of History, University of California,
 Riverside and Riverside Museum Press.
- Vogel, V. J. (1970). <u>American Indian medicine</u>. New York: Ballantine Books.
- Waitman, L. B. (1970, Winter). Raids and raiders of San Bernardino Valley. San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 18(1), 1-16.
- Waitman, L. B. (1970, Winter). The watch dogs of San Bernardino Valley: Chief Juan Antonio and Lorenzo Trujillo. San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly, 18(2&3), 1-26.
- Waitman, L. B. (1970, Winter). The lawless periods San Bernardino County 1850-1865. <u>San Bernardino County Museum Association Quarterly</u>, <u>18</u>(2&3), 50-60.

- Watts, C. (1989). Interactive video: what the studies say. CALICO Journal 7, 17-20.
- Weatherford, E.(1996). Native media making: a growing potential. Native Americas: Akwekon's journal of indigenous issues, 56-59.
- Wheeler, S.A. (1997, May 4). Interview, Malki Museum, Banning, CA.
- Whitley, D. (1996). A guide to rock art sites: Southern California and Nevada. Missoula, MT: Mountain Press.
- Webb, E. B.(1952). <u>Indian life at the old mission</u>. Lincoln, NE and London: University of Nebraska Press.
- White, J. (1996). The pow wow trail: Understanding and enjoying the Native American pow wow. Summertown, TN: Book Publishing.
- Whitehair, J.& Macduff, C. (1995, January 23). Gambling on the future. San Bernardino Sun, E-1.
- Whitehead, R. (1978). <u>Lugo: A Chronicle of early California</u>. San Bernardino County Museum Association.
- Wood, R. C.(1963). <u>California history</u>. San Francisco, CA: Fearon Publishers.
- Xántus, J.(1976). Travels in Southern California. Detroit:
 Wayne State University Press.
- Yetzer, C.(1986, July 24). Controversial Indian bingo parlor set to open tonight. San Bernardino Sun, B-1.
- Yingst, C.(1996, June 24). Stories surround city names. <u>San</u> Bernardino Sun, B-1.